RECEIVED

Sep 24 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

THE HONORABLE GORDON G. COOPER
CASE NO. 2020-CP-42-02447
APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2021-000516

Larry Bright,

Appellant,

versus

Heather D. Davis and Midfirst Bank,

Respondent

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Richard H. Rhodes, Esquire
William H. Rhodes, Esquire
Burts, Turner & Rhodes
Attorneys for the Appellant
260 North Church Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 585-8166

Ronald G. Bruce, Esquire
P.O. Box 450
Greer, SC 29650
(864) 877-0207

Attorneys for Appellant

September 24, 2021

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The Lower Court Erred in Granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, the error being that the facts surrounding the case were not before the court.
2. The Lower Court Erred in Granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment – the error being that the Court of Common Pleas, simultaneously with referring the case to the Master-in-Equity, ruled that the Motion for Summary Judgment relief would be deferred until discovery could be completed.
3. The Lower Court Erred in Granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment – the error being that the court did not view the pleadings in a light most favorable to the Appellant.
4. The Lower Court Erred in Granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment – the error being that the court did not view the facts in a light most favorable to the Appellant.
5. The Lower Court Erred in Granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment – the error being that the facts of this case, as shown in the 59(e) Motion, demonstrate that Summary Judgment should not have been granted.
6. The Lower Court Erred in Granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment – the error being that the unrefuted affidavits and documents filed by the Appellant showed that reformation of the deed should have been granted.
7. The Lower Court Erred in Holding that Code §15-3-340 Was a Basis for Granting the Summary Judgment – the error being that the Appellant's action was one seeking reformation of a deed.
8. The Lower Court Erred in Holding that Code §15-3-340 Was a Basis for Granting the Summary Judgment – the error being that the facts show that Code §15-3-340 was not the appropriate statute, because the Appellant has never abandoned the property.
9. The Lower Court Erred in Holding that Code §15-3-340 Was a Basis for Granting Summary Judgment – the error being that the Respondent did not raise this statute in her pleading and did not request this statute to be used.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant brought the subject action to reform a deed which had been executed 19 years earlier. The action was commenced by Petition dated July 22, 2020. It was later amended to include Midfirst Bank which held a mortgage on the property given by the Respondent. [The initial Petition and Answer of MidFirst Bank are not included in the Record because they are not necessary documents for the appeal.]

In September 2001, the Appellant owned Lots 10, 11 and 12 of the J. Allen Smith Property. He also owned a tract of land which abutted the three (3) lots on the north. [See aerial photo, Tr. 23.]

Lot 11 was a rental house and the back portion of the lot had a large garden plot which extended to a part of Lot 12 and also to a part of the Appellant's tract located to the north.

The Appellant's daughter, Joni Bright Wortkoetter, was deeded Lot 10. She and her family lived on Lot 10, and they were actively involved in the family garden located on the rear portion of Lot 11.

In the fall of 2001, the Respondent asked the Appellant if he would sell her the house and Lot 11. Since the back half of Lot 11 contained the family garden, the Appellant and Respondent agreed to a sale of the home and only the front portion of Lot 11. The Appellant had a survey and plat prepared which specified the agreement of the Appellant and the Respondent. The back half of the lot was being reserved for the garden and Joni Wortkoetter was given a pathway to get to the garden on the west side. [See Plat, Tr. 24.]

The deed conveying the property to the Respondent was executed on December 6, 2001. After the recording of the deed, the Appellant and his family used the back half of Lot 11 as shown on the plat. The Appellant erected a fence and planted a Leyland Cypress hedge on the line which separated the house from the garden (Tr. 25-27). On the land reserved for Joni, a privacy entrance was erected to separate her pathway to the garden from the property of the Respondent (Tr. 34). The family garden continued for 19 years after the execution of the deed.

In the summer of 2020, the Appellant was preparing to convey Lot 12 to his grandson, Bryan Ethan Wortkoetter, so that he could build a home. He was also going to convey the garden plot. It was at this time that he learned that the deed to the Respondent had erroneously included the garden plot.

The Appellant requested the Respondent to sign a Quitclaim Deed in order to correct the error. The Respondent refused. This action ensued.

Below, a summary of significant events is listed in outline form:

July 22, 2020	Petition to Reform Deed
September 29, 2020	Amended Petition to Reform Deed
November 9, 2020	Appellant's Motion for Declaratory Judgment
November 19, 2020	Amended Answer of Respondent
December 11, 2020	Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment
December 11, 2020	Respondent's Motion to Disqualify Appellant's Counsel
January 13, 2021	Answer of Midfirst Bank
January 20, 2021	Order of Reference to Master-in-Equity

February 1, 2021	Order Denying Declaratory Judgment, Summary Judgment, and Disallowance of Counsel because discovery was incomplete [arguments were on 1/20/2021]
April 12, 2021	Order Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment
April 21, 2021	Appellant filed 59(e) Motion and Accompanying Affidavits and Exhibits
April 27, 2021	Order Denying 59(e) Motion
May 17, 2021	Appeal was filed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Appellant filed the subject action seeking to reform a deed. Actions to reform a deed are equitable in nature. Wayburn v. Smith, 263 S.C. 518 (1975). After the Master-in-Equity granted the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Appellant filed Affidavits and exhibits in support of his 59(e) Motion. The Respondent did not file any Affidavits or exhibits and did not dispute any of the Appellant's Affidavits. This Court has the right to find facts for itself and render a judgment which is just.

The lower court granted the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. Summary Judgments should not be granted unless it is clear that there are no genuine issues of material fact. When a trial court is ruling on a Summary Judgment, the evidence and inferences which can be drawn therefrom, should be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. Café Assoc. Ltd. v. Gerngross 305 S.C. 6 (1991).

A judgment on the pleadings should not be granted if there is an issue of fact raised by the Complaint, which if resolved in favor of the Plaintiff, would entitle him to a judgment. All properly pled factual allegations are deemed admitted for purposes of considering the Motion for Summary Judgment. Russell v. City of Columbia, 305 S.C. 86 (1991).

ARGUMENT
The Lower Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment
(Issues 1 through 9)

The Appellant brought this action seeking to reform a deed. Actions to reform a deed are equitable in nature. Wayburn v. Smith, 263 S.C. 518 (1975).

Matters in equity are treated differently. Since the days of our early common law, there have always been courts of equity. It has been said that Courts of Equity seek justice between two (2) people whose claims are in conflict. A Court of Equity is founded in justice and not embodied in legislative enactments. Courts of Equity operate by doctrines which are founded upon natural justice. Black's Law Dictionary 4th Ed.

In matters of equity, the facts are essential to a just determination. Our Supreme Court has consistently maintained that matters which are in equity are fact-specific, and appellate courts can even find facts for itself when on appeal. Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81 (1976). In the case at bar, the court issued a ruling without a hearing. There was no testimony, there were no exhibits, and there were no affidavits. Therefore, the ruling of the trial court was not based on any facts.

Shortly after the filing of pleadings, both parties sought summary relief (Tr. 14, 16). The circuit court ruled that the Motions should be denied because discovery had not yet been complete (Tr. 11). The circuit court then referred the matter to the Master-in-Equity. The Master-in-Equity, without the request of either party, and without any evidence, granted the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment.

A. It is respectfully submitted that the lower court erred in granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment.

1. **No Facts Before the Court**

The trial court did not have any evidence on which to base its ruling. The only documents before the court were the pleadings. The lower court focused only on the length of time which had taken place since the execution of the subject deed. Since the court used "the delay" as the basis of its ruling, the case law surrounding the Doctrine of Laches is essential.

When a delay is used as a basis to grant or deny the relief requested, our Courts have consistently held that the decision needs to be based on a "highly fact-specific inquiry". Kelley v. Kelley, 368 S.C. 602 (Ct. App. 2006). In cases involving laches, our Courts have continually held that the unique facts of each case must be considered when making a ruling.

In the case at bar, there were no specific facts which would justify a ruling on laches or delay.

2. **Viewing Facts/Pleadings in a Light Most Favorable to Appellant**

A Motion for Summary Judgment cannot be granted if there are any material facts in dispute. Café Assoc. Ltd., supra. And, in addition, if a Complaint alleges a factual allegation, it must be deemed admitted as fact for purposes of a summary judgment. Russell, supra.

In the case at bar, the Appellant's Complaint alleged that he had continuously used the subject property as a garden since the signing of the subject deed (Tr. 47). Accordingly, for purposes of Summary Judgment Motion, the Appellant's continuous use of the property is deemed to be a fact. Therefore, summary judgment should have been denied.

When the 59(e) Motion was filed, the trial court was presented with Affidavits and documents which showed that the Appellant had fenced-in the property and had maintained a garden plot. Notwithstanding, the trial court refused to consider the actions of the Appellant which validated that he had maintained continuous dominion and control of the subject property.

The Doctrine of Laches, and the case law surrounding prejudicial delays, should not apply to the Appellant. Instead, this Doctrine should apply to the actions of the Respondent. For 19 years after the subject deed was signed, she agreed for the Appellant and his family to fence in and use the subject property. She also enjoyed the harvest of the garden yielded by the Appellant's labors. More importantly, the Respondent took no steps to assert her purported right to own the subject property.

3. **Overruling Another Judge**

Since the circuit court had previously ruled that the Motions for Summary Judgment were not appropriate because discovery had not been completed, it was improper for the Master-in-Equity to grant the summary judgment. This Order of

the Master-in-Equity reversed the Order of the circuit court. Our courts have long recognized that one judge of the same court may not overrule another judge Charleston County DSS v. Father, 317 S.C. 283 (1995). Since the circuit judge had already ruled that discovery must be completed before summary relief could be granted, that ruling constituted the law of this case and should have been complied with by the Master-in-Equity.

4. **§15-3-340 Was Not Appropriate**

When the Master-in-Equity made its ruling, it used Code §15-3-340 as the authority for dismissing the Appellant's action. It is interesting to note that the Respondent never injected Code §15-3-340 and did not contend that it was the proper remedy for having the Appellant's action dismissed. A review of the Respondent's pleading showed that she contended the Appellant's action was not timely. She argued that laches, estoppel, and waiver would constitute a defense.

She also asserted that the Statute of Limitations would prevent the Appellant's action, but she did not specify which Statute of Limitation.

If this Court should determine that it was proper for the lower court to inject Code §15-3-340, it is respectfully submitted that the statute is not applicable to the facts of this case.

The Code Section addresses situations where individuals are attempting to reclaim property ownership. The statute is designed to assist in the recovery of real property, and does not apply to a person who has had continued use of the property.

The Code Section reads as follows:

No action for the recovery of real property or for the recovery of possession of real property may be maintained unless it appears that the Plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor, or grantor, was ceased or possessed of the premises in question within ten (10) years before the commencement of the action.

Code §15-3-340 is short. The title is “Action By Individual For Recovery Of Real Property”. The wording in the short statute specifically refers to actions being brought for the recovery of property or for the possession of property.

When interpreting a statute, our courts have consistently held that the words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning. Stephen v. Avis Const. Co., 324 S.C. 334 (Ct. App.1996). And, our courts have held that words and terms must be given their literal meaning. Paschal v. State Elec. Comm., 317 S.C. 434 (1995).

In the case at bar, since the Appellant was not bringing the action to seek recovery of the property, the Code Section does not apply. The Appellant had been in continuous possession of the property since the subject deed had been executed. The Complaint specifically alleged that the Appellant had been continually using the property for a family farm. In her Answer, the

Respondent does not specifically deny that the Appellant was using the land for a farm. So, the Appellant was not seeking to recover possession or to recover property. Instead, he was seeking to reform a deed which had erroneously described the property and had not shown the proper lines specified on the plat.

If this Court should find that the lower court had the authority to inject Code §15-3-340, it is respectfully submitted that the statute would not prevent the Appellant from bringing this action. The Appellant has had continuous possession of the property. In the case of Butler v. Lindsey, 293 S.C. 466 (Ct. App. 1987), our Court held that even “occasional use” would prevent the statute from being used as a bar to recover.

When the Appellant conveyed title to the Respondent, he believed that the deed transferred only the front half of Lot 11. He planted a hedge of Leyland Cypress Trees and erected a fence to establish the line between the property sold to the Respondent and the property being kept as a garden (Tr. 25). The unrefuted Affidavits and exhibits filed by the Appellant in support of his 59(e) Motion, documented that after the conveyance of the deed to the Respondent, the land in question was used consistently by the Appellant and his family as a family garden.

For the 19 years after the conveyance, the family farmed the property. They had a spring garden, a summer garden, and a fall garden. The harvest from the garden was shared with neighbors, to include the Respondent (Tr. 22, 31). The Appellant had continuous use and control of the subject property. The affirmative actions of the Appellant and the acquiescence by the Respondent document that the family garden was intended to be owned by the Appellant.

B. It is respectfully submitted that the lower court erred in denying the Appellant's 59(e) Motion.

When the 59(e) Motion was filed, the Appellant filed three (3) Affidavits. The Affidavits detailed the agreement reached between the Appellant and the Respondent when the portion of Lot 11 was agreed to be sold. The Affidavits also outlined the actions of the Appellant and his family: fences and hedges were built by the Appellant to mark the lines of the Respondent's property. And, for 19 years, the Appellant and his family cultivated and planted a spring, summer and fall garden.

The Respondent did not refute the Affidavits and Exhibits of the Appellant. In fact, the Respondent did not file anything in opposition to the Appellant's 59(e) Motion. Accordingly, all of the evidence documents that the subject deed should be reformed and that the land shown on the subject plat should be deeded back to the Appellant.