RECEIVED

Sep 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Gordon G. Cooper, Master-in-Equity

Case No.: 2020-CP-42-02447
Appellate Case No: 2021-000516

Larry BrightAppellant

v.

Heather D. Davis and Midfirst Bank Respondents

RESPONDENT HEATHER D. DAVIS'S FINAL BRIEF

Daniel R. Hughes (SC Bar #72547)
J. Alexander Zimmerman (SC Bar #104301)
DUGGAN & HUGHES, LLC
457-B Pennsylvania Avenue
P. O. Box 449
Greer, SC 29652-0449
Telephone: (864) 334-2500
Facsimile: (864) 879-0149
Attorneys for Respondent Heather D. Davis

September 29, 2021

ARGUMENT

In its order, the Master granted Respondent’s motion for judgment on the pleadings on two grounds: the statute of limitations found in section 15-3-340 and the doctrine of laches. (R. p. 5–7). Because the Master relied on two grounds, this Court must affirm the Order if it is supported by either ground. *See Anderson v. West*, 270 S.C. 184, 188, 241 S.E.2d 551, 553 (1978) (“[W]he[n] a jury returns a general verdict involving two or more issues and its verdict is supported as to at least one issue, the verdict will not be reversed.”); *Anderson v. S.C. Dep’t of Highways & Pub.*

Transp., 322 S.C. 417, 420 n.1, 472 S.E.2d 253, 255 n.1 (1996) ("It should be noted that although cases generally have discussed the 'two[-]issue' rule in the context of the appellate treatment of general jury verdicts, the rule is applicable under other circumstances on appeal, including affirmance of orders of trial courts."). Moreover, if a party fails to appeal all grounds, the lower court must be affirmed. *See Anderson v. Short*, 323 S.C. 522, 525, 476 S.E.2d 475, 477 (1996) ("[W]he[n] a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.").

Respondent asks this Court to affirm the Master based on the doctrines of the two-issue rule and the law of the case because the Appellant failed to appeal both grounds. In the statement of issues on appeal, the Appellant lists nine separate issues and does not list the Master's reliance on the doctrine of laches as error. (App. Br. p. iii). "Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal." Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *see also Brown v. Odom*, 425 S.C. 420, 436 n.5, 823 S.E.2d 183, 191 n.5 (Ct. App. 2019) (finding an issue was unpreserved because the appellant failed to include the issue in his statement of issues on appeal). Appellant also does not list the doctrine of laches in the heading or subheadings of his argument section. (App. Br. pp. 5–11). Moreover, Appellant did not argue in his 59(e) motion that the Master erred in applying laches. *See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 421–22, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) ("An appellate court may not, of course, *reverse* for any reason appearing in the record. The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it . . . has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred."). Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Master because a ground the Master relied upon was not properly appealed. *See Short*, 323 S.C. at 525, 476 S.E.2d at 477 (affirming the lower court's decision because the appellant did not appeal all grounds upon which the decision

was based and the unappealed grounds were the law of the case). Should this Court find the appeal is properly preserved, Respondent addresses the merits below.

A. APPELLANT’S ARGUMENT THAT THE MASTER OVERRULED THE CIRCUIT COURT IS UNPRESERVED

In Part A.3, Appellant argues the Master erred in granting Appellant’s Motion because it amounts to one judge overruling another. (App. Br. pp. 7–8). *See generally Charleston Cnty. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Father, Stepmother, & Mother*, 317 S.C. 283, 288, 454 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1995) (“There is a long-standing rule in this State that one judge of the same court cannot overrule another.”). This Court should find this issue is unpreserved because the Appellant did not raise it to the Master.

"Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the [trial] court." *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779–80 (2004); *see also Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court] to be preserved for appellate review."). When a court’s order creates an issue, the appellant must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to allow the court to rule on or correct the alleged error. *See Brown*, 425 S.C. at 429, 823 S.E.2d at 187 (“Post[trial] motions are . . . utilized to raise issues that could not have been raised at trial.” (omission in original) (quoting Jean Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 189 (3d ed. 2016))); *id.* at 430, 823 S.E.2d at 187–88 (noting issues created by an order are preserved when raised in a posttrial motion); *see also Sweeney v. Sweeney*, 420 S.C. 69, 82, 800 S.E.2d 148, 154 (Ct. App. 2017) (“Because the [trial] court did not have the opportunity to rule upon this issue or correct any alleged mistakes in its final order, we find it is unpreserved for our review.”).

In his 59(e) motion, Appellant did not argue to the Master that it erred in ruling on Respondent's Motion. (R. p. 20). Instead, Appellant's arguments related to the action's nature, the affidavits attached to the motion, and the Master's reliance on section 15-3-340. (R. p. 20). Because Appellant did not argue the Master erred because the circuit court had already ruled on Respondent's Motion, this Court should find the issue is unpreserved. *Sweeney*, 420 S.C. at 82, 800 S.E.2d at 154 (finding the issue unpreserved because the appellant did not give the trial court the opportunity to rule on the issue or correct the alleged mistake). Accordingly, Respondent asks this Court to affirm the Master on this issue.

Should the Court find this issue is preserved, the Court should affirm based on the merits. Rule 53, SCRCF, provides that all or part of actions can be referred to a master-in-equity or a special referee. "When a case is referred to a master, Rule 53(c) gives the master the power to conduct hearings in the same manner as the circuit court, unless the order of reference specifies or limits his powers." *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atl. Priv. Equity Grp., LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 75, 773 S.E.2d 607, 616 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *Smith Cos. of Greenville, Inc. v. Hayes*, 311 S.C. 358, 360, 428 S.E.2d 900, 902 (Ct. App. 1993)). If the circuit court refers the entire action to the master, the circuit court no longer has jurisdiction over the action. *Cf.* Rule 53(b) (providing that the matter is returned to the circuit court if an issue triable by a jury exists and a party files a jury demand); Rule 53(e) (providing that appeals of a matter referred to a master are reviewed by the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals).

In this case, the circuit court referred the entire matter to the Master and directed it to "make final decisions with respect to all matters in this action" on January 20, 2021. (R. p. 9). At this point, the Master had the authority to rule on all matters pertaining to the action. *See* Rule 53. Accordingly, the Master did not err in ruling on Respondent's Motion. Moreover, the alleged prior

order Appellant refers to was issued by the circuit court on February 1, 2021—twelve days after the case was referred in full to the Master, and there is no indication in the Record on appeal that the matter was referred back to the circuit court. *See id.* Therefore, should the Court reach the merits of this issue, Respondent asks the Court to affirm the Master.

B. THE MASTER DID NOT ERR IN FINDING SECTION 15-3-340 APPLIED

In Part A.4, Appellant argues the Master erred in relying on section 15-3-340 in dismissing this case because (1) Respondent did not specifically allege that particular statute and (2) the statute is inapplicable. (App. Br. pp. 8–11). As to the first argument, Respondent asserted in her Amended Answer that Appellant’s “action is untimely pursuant to the applicable statute of limitations.” (R. p. 50, ¶ 9). Appellant admits as much in his brief. (App. Br. p. 8). Because, as discussed below, section 15-3-340 is the applicable statute of limitations, the Master did not err in relying on it. Additionally, Appellant provides no authority for the point that it would be error for the Master to subsequently “inject” section 15-3-340. *Cf. Bluffton Towne Ctr., LLC v. Gilleland-Prince*, 412 S.C. 554, 573, 772 S.E.2d 882, 893 (Ct. App. 2015) (finding an issue abandoned and unpreserved when the appellant cited no legal authority and “merely provided a recitation of the trial transcript and made a conclusory argument”). Therefore, this Court should reject this argument.

As to the second argument, Appellant asserts because he continued to use the Property he has remained in possession of the Property and the statute is inapplicable pursuant to *Butler v. Lindsey*, 293 S.C. 466, 361 S.E.2d 621, (Ct. App. 1987). (App. Br. p. 9–10). This Court should find the Master applied the proper statute of limitations based on the rules of statutory interpretation.

"The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature." *DIRECTV, Inc. & Subsidiaries v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 421 S.C. 59, 70, 804 S.E.2d 633, 638 (Ct. App. 2017) (quoting *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007)). "What the General Assembly says in the text of the statute is the best evidence of its intent, and [appellate c]ourt[s are] bound to give effect to the legislature's expressed intent." *Aiken v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 429 S.C. 414, 419, 839 S.E.2d 96, 99 (2020). "Whe[n] the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." *DIRECTV*, 421 S.C. at 70, 804 S.E.2d at 638 (alteration in original) (quoting *Media Gen. Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 388 S.C. 138, 148, 694 S.E.2d 525, 530 (2010)). "Words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation." *Id.* at 70, 633 S.E.2d at 639 (quoting *Sloan*, 371 S.C. at 499, 640 S.E.2d at 459).

Section 15-3-340 provides as follows:

No action for the recovery of real property *or* for the recovery of the possession of real property may be maintained unless it appears that the plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor, or grantor, was seized or possessed of the premises in question within ten years before the commencement of the action.

(emphasis added).

Accepting Appellant's allegation that he has continuously farmed a small part of the Property as true, under *Butler*, Appellant has "possessed" the property over the past nineteen

years.¹ (R. p. 44, ¶ 7). *See Falk*, 341 S.C. at 286, 533 S.E.2d at 353 (“When considering [a Rule 12(c)] motion, the court must regard all properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted.”); *Butler*, 293 S.C. 466 at 473, 361 S.E.2d at 624 (rejecting the argument that occasional use of a property does not constitute possession). However, the statute says “[n]o action for the recovery of real property *or* for the recovery of the possession of real property.” § 15-3-340. (emphasis added). When used in a statute, the word “or” “is a disjunctive particle that marks an alternative” and “imports [a] choice between two alternatives and as ordinarily used, means one or the other of two, but not both.” *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 316, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014) (quoting *Brewer v. Brewer*, 242 S.C. 9, 14, 129 S.E.2d 736, 738 (1963)). The legislature’s use of the word “or” means the statute applies to actions other than for the recovery of possession of property, specifically “for the *recovery* of real property.” § 15-3-340 (emphasis added). “Recovery” is defined as “[t]he regaining or restoration of something lost or taken away.” *Recovery*, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019). Appellant’s action to reform the Deed is one for the “recovery of real property” because he desires to “regain” proper title to the Property that he claims he “lost” due to a clerical mistake. (R. p. 46–47, ¶ 7). Accordingly, the fact that Appellant maintained possession of a portion of the Property does not render section 15-3-340 inapplicable. Accepting Appellant’s pleadings as facts, Appellant executed the Deed in 2001 and nineteen years passed before he filed the present action. (R. p. 43, ¶ 5–p. 44 ¶ 7; R. p. 46, ¶ 7–p. 49). No other facts are alleged that

¹ However, Respondents asserts that because she held title to the entirety of the Property, she was in constructive possession of the property. *See Butler*, 293 S.C. 466 at 473, 361 S.E.2d at 624–25 (“[I]t has been noted as a universal truth that the law considers the title to the *locus in quo* draws with it constructive possession thereof.”).

would allow the Master to conclude—even construing the pleadings liberally—that Appellant has owned the property within the last ten years as required by section 15-3-340. *See Russell*, 305 S.C. at 89, 406 S.E.2d at 339 (stating pleadings should be construed liberally). Accordingly, the Master did not err in applying the ten-year statute of limitations in section 15-3-340.² Therefore, this Court should affirm the Master on this ground.

C. APPELLANT’S ARGUMENTS IN PARTS A.1 AND A.2 ARE NONRESPONSIVE TO THE MASTER’S ORDER

Appellant asserts in Part A.1 that the Master erred in granting summary judgment because there were no facts before the court. (App. Br. p. 6). In Part A.2, Appellant argues the Master erred by granting summary judgment after failing to view the facts and pleadings in the light most

² Respondent recognizes that section 15-3-340 contains a second “or” when it states the plaintiff or his predecessor “was seized or possessed” the property within ten years. However, this second “or” should not be interpreted as providing alternative methods to precluding the statute of limitations when he brings an action to recover real property. Rather, it should be interpreted as continuing the distinction established at the beginning of the statute between an action to recover ownership of real property and an action to recovery possession of real property. *See also Seize, Black’s Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019) (cross-referencing the definition of “seisin”); *Seisin, Black’s Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019) (defining “seisin” as “[p]ossession of a freehold estate in land; ownership”); *id.* (“Originally, seisin meant simply possession Gradually, seisin and possession became distinct concepts. . . . [A]lthough the word ‘seisin’ appears in modern statutes with a fair degree of frequency, it is usually treated as synonymous with ownership.” (quoting Cornelius J. Moynihan, *Introduction to the Law of Real Property* 98–99 (2d ed. 1988))).

favorable to Appellant. (App. Br. pp. 6–7). These arguments misconstrue the Order. As noted above, Respondent’s Motion and the Master’s Order were for judgment on the pleadings. Accordingly, Appellant’s arguments that the Master erred because (1) there were no facts before it or (2) it failed to consider the facts in the light most favorable to Appellant misconstrue the Master’s Order, and this Court should view the arguments as without merit. *See Consignment Sales, LLC v. Tucker Oil Co.*, 391 S.C. 266, 271–72, 705 S.E.2d 73, 76 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding the appellant’s argument was without merit because the argument misconstrued the appealed order). Additionally, these arguments relate to the Master’s application of laches, which as noted above, is not properly preserved. To reverse on these grounds would amount to reversing for any reason in the record. *See I’On*, 338 S.C. at 421–22, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (“An appellate court may not, of course, *reverse* for any reason appearing in the record. The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.”). Moreover, as also discussed above, the statute of limitations applied by the Master supports affirmance. *See West*, 270 S.C. at 188, 241 S.E.2d at 553 (“[W]he[n] a jury returns a general verdict involving two or more issues and its verdict is supported as to at least one issue, the verdict will not be reversed.”); *S.C. Dep’t of Highways*, 322 S.C. at 420 n.1, 472 S.E.2d at 255 n.1 (stating the two-issue rule applies to trial court orders). Based on the foregoing, this Court should affirm the Master on these grounds.³

³ Should this Court reach the merits of these arguments, contrary to Appellant’s argument, there were facts before the Master because the pleadings are admitted as facts on a Rule 12(c) motion. *See Falk*, 341 S.C. at 286, 533 S.E.2d at 353 (“When considering [a Rule 12(c)] motion, the court must regard all properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted.”). The pleadings establish

that Appellant sold the entirety of the Property to Respondent in 2001 and did not file this action until nineteen years later. (R. p. 43–47). Even when considered liberally, the pleadings establish that Appellant waited over nineteen years after conveying the Property to file this action. *See Russell*, 305 S.C. at 89, 406 S.E.2d at 339 (stating pleadings should be construed liberally). The fact that Appellant continued to use the Property as a small farm has no bearing on whether or not the Master erred in applying laches as an additional ground for dismissing the case. *See generally Hallums v. Hallums*, 296 S.C. 195, 199, 371 S.E.2d 525, 528 (1988) (stating the elements of laches are delay, unreasonable delay, and prejudice). Should this Court conclude the Master converted Respondent’s motion into one for summary judgment by considering facts outside of the pleadings, there were no facts before the Master when it issued the Order that would indicate laches should not apply. Appellant did not provide the Master with any facts beyond the pleadings until he filed affidavits attached to his 59(e) motion after the Master issued the Order. These affidavits should be considered untimely because they could have been presented prior to the Order but were not. *See Michael P. v. Greenville Cnty. Dep’t of Soc. Servs.*, 385 S.C. 407, 413 n.4, 684 S.E.2d 211, 214 n.4 (Ct. App. 2009) (per curiam) (noting that arguments and theories raised for the first time in a posttrial motion were not properly preserved for appellate review). Furthermore, the affidavits, even if considered, do not allege any facts showing that Appellant did not delay nineteen years in bringing the action, that the delay was reasonable, and that Respondent was not prejudiced by the delay. *See Hallums*, 296 S.C. at 199, 371 S.E.2d at 528 (providing the elements for laches). Therefore, should this Court address the merits, Respondent asks this Court to affirm the Master on these grounds.

D. THE MASTER PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S 59(E) MOTION

This Court should also affirm the Master's denial of Appellant's 59(e) Motion. As discussed above, the Master did not err in granting Respondent's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and therefore there is no reason to alter or amend the Order. Accordingly, Respondent asks this Court to affirm on this ground.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Respondent Heather Davis asks this Court to affirm the Master.